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ROWE, P.:

In the years which passed between the hearing of the
arguments on appeal and the delivery of the judgment on July 26,
1985 there has been a change in the status of Rowe, J.A., who has
since been appointed President.

Harold Andrade was on October 2z, 1970 registered as
the fee simple owner of »nremises 34-36 Hagley Park Road, St.
Andrew. On that same day a first mortgage of the property was
registered in favour of the 1st defendant/appellant (Imperial

Life) to secure a loan made to Andrade in the sum of $50,000.00.




Richard Roberts an experienced Solicitor and partner in the
firm of Judah, Desnces and Comvany (Judah) prepared the
mortgage documents con bchalf of Imperial Life. In un-

¢xplained circumstances, the title registered at Vol, 352

&N

Folio 930 of the Register Book of Titles was made available
either te Andrade or to the Solicitors representing First
Hational City Bank of 21 Constant Spring Road, St. Andrew
and on January 14, 1971 wortgage No. 225987 dated 31st
December, 1970 was registered and endorsed on the Title
whereby Andrade further mortraged the vroperty to First
National City Bank "to secure the monies mentioned in the
mortgage.” After that endorsement was made the Title was
returned to Judah, who on Februarvy 1, 1971 forwarded it to
Imperial Life, there to rest until 1875,

Andrade approached Imperial Life for an additicnal
loan on the security of 34-36 Hapley Park Road in 1874,
Imperial Life was prepared to entertain the reguest but even
if the application was approved its cash flow position pre-
vented it from making an immediate disbursement. Trevor
Hylton, a sales representative of Imperial Life explored with

the Manager of Bank of Commerce Jamaica Limited (Bank of

Commerce) Kingston branch, the possibility of Bank of Commerce

facilitating

[

Andrade, aclient of Imperial Life, and also the

Bank of Commerce with bridging finance. Mr. Shim, then

Manager of Bank of Commerce was advised by Hylton that Imperial

Life was in the process of granting an additional first

&

mortgage te the amount of $80,000.00 on Andrade's Hagley Park
Road property and that it would take some time for the funds

to be disbursed by Imperial Life pending the execution of the new
nortgage. Hylton said Imperial Life would be prepared to

provide Bank of Commerce with an undertaking to disburse the
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nroceeds of the mortgage directly into Lank of Commerce,

o

Mr. Shim understood Mr. Hyltcon to be provosing that Bank of
Commerce should provide "bridging financing” to the potentizl
borrower, Andrade, which would be repaid in full by Imperial
Life when it had available funds and 2 registered mortgage
from Andrade.

Mr. Shim was familiar with that type of financial
transaction and he detailed to Mr. Hylton the three conditions
on which Bank of Commerce would consider the application,
Firstly, Andrade would be required to issue an irrevocalble
letter of undertaking to Imperial Life, authorising Imperial
Life to vpay the proceeds of the vroposed mortgage directly
to Bank of Commerce; secondly, Imperial Life should itself
issue an irrevocable undertaking to direct the vroceeds of
the mortgage directly to Banik c¢f Commerce, and thirdly, that
Andrade should provide Bank of Commerce with an up-to-date
statement of his assets and lisbilities.

In chronological sequence I will set out the
important events ccnsisting of letters, oral conversations,
dictated statements and telephone conversations between
November 7, 1974 and February 5, 1875, As it was Imperial
Life's Hylton who fired the first salvo, so it was Imperial
Life's Andy Blain, Branch Officer Supervisor who, in his
letter of MNovember 7, 1574, fired the second salve. He wrote
to Bank of Commerce cenfirming that it was prepared to grant
an additional first mortgage of §30,000.90 on 34-36 Hagley
Park Road, subject to approval of the official Mortgage
Application Form which had been sent to its Head Office. The
purpose of the letter was identificd when M¥r. Blain wrote that
“these funds would be disbursed by us within one year of

T

receiving approval of the loan from our Head Office.™ tHe was

/S0




T

4

obviously intimating that the accommodation being sought by
Andrade would determine within twelve months.
December 17, 1974 was a date of much activity

in connection with these proceedings. Imperial Life issued
its letter to Andrade commencing in these terms:

“"You will be pleased to know that your

application for a first mortgage loan

has been approved as follows and

rlaced in the hands of our Solicitors
with instructions to proceed immediately.

Amount of approval loan J$148,000
Rate of interest 11.5%

Term and amortization 20/20
Monthly repayment J§1,551.31 "

The commitment was made subject to four conditions
three of which related to Andrade's production to the prospective
lenders® Solicitors of all title docunments, five _ngurance
policies etc., where applicable, as may pe reguired by our solicitais.
the same to he satisfactory to the Solicitors and his eventus!l
execution of the mortgage documents. A letter of similar date
was sent tc Andrade by Imperial Life which confirmed to him thrt

B
LS

his recent mortgage for 34-3¢ Hagley Park Road had been avproved
for the sum of $80,000.00 at an interest rate of 12.5% and that
the new nmortgage when blewled with the existing mortgage would
bring his indebtedness to §14%£,005.00 and an average rate of
interest of 11.5%.

Andrade prepared his own letter to Bank of Commerce
making reference to the Rank’s stipulations in the conversation
with Hylton, to the agreement of Imperial Life to make a loan
of $80,000.00 to him, and added his own promise tc provide Bank
of Commerce with the irrevocable undertaking they demanded in
the event of the approvzal of his loan request. With his letter
of approval from Imperial Life and with his letter promising to

abide by the Bank's condition, Andrade obtained an interview with
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Mr. Shim and gave a statem=nt of his affairs. It was the

evidence of Mr. Shim that the statement of assets and liabilities
were required for two reascns. In the first place it would be
Andradets liability to pay interest on any loan made by the
Bank and in the second place the Pank wanted to know if it would
have any protection in the event of recourse to Andrade. The
unverifiable and inflated information provided by Andrade placad
his net worth well over §700,0065.00.

Judah entered the arena with its letter of December

31, 1974. They wrote to Bank of Commerce as under:

"re Harold Andrade

We have to advisc that Mr. Harold Andrade
has been granted a loan from the Imperial
Life Assurance Company of Canada of
£48,000.00 and on completion of the
mortgage he should receive approximately
J§76,309.00.
The mortgage, however, is not due for
completion until October, 1975 and you
have our underzaking to forward you the
amount of $76,%00.00 at that time,
subject to satisfactory completion of the
mortgage.
Prima facie, Bank of (Commerce's three pre-conditions

were then complied with and afiter discussions at the local level

between Shim and Joseph Erukowski, then Asst. Area lManager, King
Street Branch of Canadian Bank of Commerce, FMr. Krukowski
transmitted Andrade's application to his Head Office in Canads
on January 23, 1975, with recommendations. Both Messrs. Shim
and Krukowski had reservations as to the terms of Judah's under-
taking and these reservations were fully shared by their Head
Offize which instructed that a firm irrevocable undertaking frowm
Imperial should be sought and obtained before any disbursement.
How to circumvant this roadblock? Here were two
Canadian companies doing business in Jamaica, whose main offices
in Jamaica were housed in the same building and both wished to

do business with each other for the benefit of each other,.




Mr, Shim of RBank of Commerce broke the bad news to Mr. Blain
of Imperial Life. Mr., Blain needed re-inforcements and so he
contacted his area Supervisor Mr., Dutch Holland who took swift
action. He went to see Mr. Shkim on or about January 30, 1574
introducing himself as the Fesident Superintendent for Imperial
Life and argued that the letter from Judah of Decenber 31, 1474
(Wf was in common form and should be accenrtable. Not satisfied with
his interview with Mr. Shim, Mr. Dutch Holland next telephoned
to Mr, Xrukowski, expressing his personal understanding of the
reservations held by Bank of Commerce but then he went on to
assure Mr., Xrukowski of the credibility of Imperial Life and of
the genuineness of its commitments. His letter of January 39,
1975 to Bank cf Commerce was in these positive terms:
“HAROLD ANDRADEY
"This letter will confirm the fact that
the above-nzmed had been granted a loan
by the Imperial Life Assurance Company
in the amount of J$1482,500.00 and con
completion of the mortgage in October,
1975, the net proceeds to him will be
JE76,300.00.
further
“"This letter will/confirm that these net
proceeds (the amount is approximate)
will be paid to you direct by our
Sclicitors Judah, Desnoes § Company,

and as you will note a copy of this
letter is being sent to Mr. Roberts

(“ﬁ who will confirm this fact to you that
o he will follow these instructions.”

¥ir. Roberts, aware of the urgency of his client’s
instructions wrote on the same day January 30, 1975 to Pank of
Commerce confirming that they had instructions both from
iir., Harold Andrade and the mcrtgagees, Imperial Life, to pay o
to you the proceeds of the loan obtained by Mr. Andrade on the
conditions stated in our letter referred to above®™ (that of 3ist

(W\ December, 1974).

s,

The posture adopted by Imperial Life's officers was
that they had gone far enough in their assurances to Bank of
Commerce and if anything more water-tight was required it would

have to be provided either by Head Office or its Attorneys-at-Law.
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Messrs, Shim and Xrukowski said that after the
assurances and explanations from one in Mr. Dutch Holland's
position and having regard tc the practice bhetween banks which
extended to dealings between banks and insurance companies,
they no longer expected a document from Imperial Life which

would satisfy their pre-conditions and therefore they took the

(&3

decision to disburse funds to Andrads. $55,000.00 were paid
to Andrade between February 3, and 5, 1975. Although these
payments were made before Rank of Commerce received the letter
of February 6, 1975 from the Asst. Administrative Officer at
Imperial Life's Head Office in Toronto, Canada, the writer
summmarised the state of the negotiations most aptly wher he
wrote:

"This seems 2 very simple and straight

forward tramnsaction and once our

Solicitors legal vcquirements have been

satisfied we would anticipate that the

matter will unroceed and will be handled

to your entire satisfaction.”

The prediction as to “entire satisfaction’ came to
nought, Imperial Life through its branch office transmitted =a
Requisition to its Solicitors, Judah, to prepare a first mortgago
on 34-36 Hagley Park Road,. The Requisition recited that the
Title was enclosed but this was not so and on May 7, 1875,

Mr. Roberts wrote to Imperial Life for the Title. It was forword-

ed to him under cover of letter May 16 and the rotten news canw

to light that there was endorsed on the title a second mortgare

oy

in favour of First National Lity Bank. Judah advised in letter

1
H)

ol

of May 21, 1975 that the Security was not considered aczcept

o
s
2

w

Andrade sought and obtaincd from Imperial Life extensions of

the second mortgage but he accomnlishes

time within which to pay of!

nothing tangible in that regard. It was not until MNovember 7,

1975 that Imperial Life first'informed Bank of Commerce that:
"Because there was a second mortgage on

the property, our company refused €o
pay out this Loan.,"
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The learned trial judge found that after January 14,
1871 the appellants had actuzl or constructive notice of the
second mortgage endorsed on the title, that the title was in
the actual custody of Imperisl Life which had ample opwortunity
to inswpect it, that Bank of Commerce had no similar notice and
was led to assume or believe that all was clear for the advances
to be made to Andvade. He further interpreted the urdertaking by
Judah which contained the rider "subject to the satisfactory
comnletion of the mortgage’™ to mean,

""subject to th:s preparation, execution
and replstratlon of the mortgapﬂ
documents in the sum of $148,000.00

as principal with Harold Andrade as
the mortgagor.”

In its Grounds of Appeal, Imperial Life contended, thax

the learned trial judge's construction of the undevrtaking as set
out above was wrong in law in that he construed the undertakins
in accordance with his findings of fact rather than in accoraanc
with the language of the undervrtaking. Additionally, Imperial
Life complained, that even on the Judge's construction of the
undertaking there was no breach on the =zvidence which in fact
did not disclose any cause of action against the defendants.

The respondent had in its statement of claim nleadod
alternative causes of action against Imperial Life including
breach of an agreement partly written and partly oral betweer
itself and Iaperial Life, breach of warranty, breach of contrazt

of indemnity, and against both

Papy

appellants for breach of an

undertaking and for negligence. On the findings of fact of

the learned trial judge Bank of Commercs can only succeed if thu
vidence disclose the making of negligent mis-statements by

either or both appelilants in circumstances which give rise to a

cause of action in negligence under the principles adumbrated

by the Privy Council in Mutuval Life and Citizen's Assurance Co.

Ltd. § another v. Evatt (1871) 1 A1l E.R, 150. On this crucial

guestion counsel on both sides in the course of their arguments
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did not find it necessary to go outside the decision in

Mutual Life v. Evatt and 2 commentary in Spencer Bower and

Turner (3rd Edition) on Actionable Misrepresentaticn at péges
414 et seq. I will similarly confine myself.

The resrondent contends that a duty of care arises
in relation to representations made by one person to another
where the representaticns concern business transactions which
by their nature make it clear that the information contained

in the representations are matters of importance and will be

S
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gnificant in relation to the contemplated action by the
party to whom the representations are made. In a case where
a person carries on a business or profession which requires
swecial skill and cownetence or where by his conduct he makes
it appear that he possesses special skill and competence in
the subject matter, then if ke gives information to a person
which is negligently given and that person in reliance on
that information suffers damapge he will be liable in damages to
that other person.

Not every kind of negligent mis-statement will give
rise to a cause of action in negligence. Lord BDiwvlock
summarised the position as it existed at common law before the

decision in Hedley Byrne § Co., Ltd. v. Heller § Partuners Ltd.

(1963) 2 All E.R. 575, in his speech in the Mutual Life v. Evatt

case at page 154 of the report thus:

"Prior to Hedley Byrne it was accepted law
in England that in the absence of contract
the maker of a statement of fact or opinion
owed to a merscen whom hc could reasonably
foresee would rely on it in a matter
affecting his economic interest, a duty to
be honest in making the statement. But he
did not owe any duty to be careful, unless
the relationshin between him and the person
who acted on it to his economic detriment
fell within the category of relationships
which the law classified as fiduciary.
Hedley Byrne decided that the class of




¢

"relationshins between the maker of the
statement and the person who acted on
it to his economic detriment which
attracted the duty to be carcful was
not so limited, but could extend to
relationships which though not
fiduciarvy in character possessed other
characteristics.”

The relationships vossessing characteristics other
than fiduciary ones, came to be termed special relationships.
Should there be rigid rules or classifications or categoriza-
tions of the classes of cases which can give rise to that
special relationship? The powerful dissenting speech by

Lord Reid and Lord Morris of Rorth-y-Gest in Mutual Life v.

Evatt was against such ririd classification and in their
opinion the true test should be whether the reascnable man
would think that in the particular circumstances he

had some obligation beyond merely giving an honest answer.
But the majority opinion of the Privy Council 1limited the
special relationship to two kinds of cases. Spencer Bower

in his Treatisc, supra, at page 425 listed them as:

"Tirst, the case where, by carrying on
a2 business or nrofession which involves
the givinz of advice calling for
special skill and competence the
defendant has let it be known that he
claims or vossesses and is prepared
to exercise the skill and competence
used by persons who give such advice
in the ordinary course of their
business.,

Second, the case where, though the
defendant does not carry on any such
business, he had let it be known in
some other way that he claims to
possess skill and competence in the
subject matter of the particular
enquiry comparable with that of
persons who 4o carry on the business
of advising on that subject matter,
and is rrepared to exercise that skill
-and comnoetence on the occasion 1in
question.”
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The facts in Mutual Life v. Evatt were entirely

different from those in Hedley Byrne v. Heller as are the

facts in the instant case different from those two cases

above. But as Lord Dinlock said in Mutual Life v. Evatt

at page 161 the categories of negligence are never closed.

"As with any other important case in the
development of the common law, Hedle
Byrne should not be regarded as 1intended
to lay down the metes and bounds of the
new field of negligence of which the
gate is now opened, Those will fall to
be ascertained step by step as the facts
of particular cases which come before the
courts make it necessary to determine
then. The instant appeal is an example:
but their Lordships would emphasise that
the missing characteristic of the
relationship which they consider to be
essential to give rise to a duty of care
in a situation of the kind in which the
respondent and the company found them-
sclves when he sought their advice, is
not neccessarily essential in other
situations, such as, perhaps, where the
advisor has a financial interest in the
transaction on which he gives his advice
(cf W.B. Anderson § Sons. Ltd. v. Rhodes
(Liverpocl) Ltd. The categories of
negligence are never closed...vveenene.”

In the instant case Imperial Life carried on business
of lending money on long term mortgages. The method of
operating this business,; as the instant case shows, involved
a scheme or a series of transactions in which Imperial Life
would first consider and approve a mortgage lcan, then a
willing bank would be asked to provide immediate finance as
a bridge between the approval of the mortgage loan and the
date of dishursement. When therefore Imperial Lifz as the
long term lender makes a stztcment of the approval of the
mertgage loan and conveys that approval to the short-term
lender, Imperial Life must reasonably have contemplated and
anticipated that the short-term lender would place reliance
upon its statement of approval and be influenced thereby

into the grant and disbursement of the bridecing finance.
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The statements were made by Imperial Life in a context in
which it fully appreciated that short-term advances would
be made before the completion and registration of the
mortgage and the entire series of negotiations were conducted
on the basis that immediate advances would be made to
Andrade and the Bank would be re-imbursed from the proceeds
of the mortgage sometime in the future.

The representations made through the agents of
Imperial Life orally and in writing conveyed the information
to Bank of Commerce that a binding agreement to grant a
first mortgage existed between itself and Andrade and from
these representations it could be reasonably inferred that
all the essentials relating to the grant of a first mortgage
had been agreed and settled satisfactorily between Andrade
and Imperial Life and that there was no existing or easily
ascertainable factor which would provide an impediment to
the grant of the mocrtgage,

In my opinion, Imperial Life owed a duty of care
to Bank of Commerce and failed to use reasonable care in
giving the assurances tc Bank of Commerce in that it failed
to inspect the Certificate of Title which was in its own
possession before advising Bank of Commerce that it had
approved the mortgage loan to Andrade. The learned trial
judge was entirely correct when he concluded that Imperial
Life led the Manager of Bank of Commerce to assume or
believe that all was clear for the advances to be made to
Andrade. Indeed it was the opinion of Imperial Life that
Bank of Commerce was being unduly protective of itself when
dealing with assurances given by so reputable a company as
Imperial Life in such 2 very simple and straightforward

transaction. Indeed Imperial Life was impatient at what
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it considered to be undue delay on the part of Bank of
Commerce to make the short-term advance to Andrade.

A special relationship was established between
the two financial institutions both being money-lenders,
the one on long-term mortgages and the other on short-
term ""bridging financing®. The long-term lenders
assurances of a mortgage loan in a specified'sum, to a
named person to be disbursed at a stated future time,
was in the instant case intznded to be acted upon by
the short-term lender, who acting upon the faith of those
representations incurred loss. The long-term lender
owed 2 duty of care to the short-term lender and due to
its negligence, was in breach of that duty. I would
dismiss the appeal of Imperial Life with costs to the
respondent to be taxed or agreed.

I am of opinion that Judah is in a different
position from Imperial Life. 1t would be nothing to the
point that it was acting on the instructions of Imperial
Life if it gave an unequivocal and unconditional under-
taking in its own name to pay to Bank of Commerce the sum
of $76,300.00 in October 1975 on Andrade's account. The
respondent's witnesses Messrs. Shim and Krukowski testified
that they understood the undertaking from Judah to be too
broad. This is how Mr. Shim »nut it:

"When the attorney's letter was received
at the Area Office they called us to
say that undertaking was too broad and
they were of opinion that the Attorneys
were only committing to the extent that
the funds would only be paid over by

them to us provided mortgage proceeds
were forthcoming from Imperial Life.™

And Mr. Krukowski's evidence was to the same effect. He said:
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"It was too breoad because Judah,

Desnoes only committed themselves

to pay over the funds to the Bank

provided that the funds were paid

te them by Imperial Life. "

On the evidencce Judah was not the Attorneys for

Imperial Life in negotiations preceding the approval of
Andrade's application for 2 mortgage loan. Judah's role,
as Mr. Williams contended, was, to act on the instructions
of Imperial Life, to prepare a first mortgage and cause
same to be registered as a first mortgagse and thereafter
to »ay over to Bank of Commerce the proceeds of the
mortgage when they were put in funds so to do by Imperial
Life. In my view the first paragraph of Judah's letter
of December 31, 1974 cannot properly be construed as a
representation intended to induce Bank of Commerce to grant
"bridging financing" to Andrade. Even if it werc a
representation, it was true in substance. What is important,
however, is that Bank of Commerce did not purport to rely
upon that statement of fact. The Bank's concern was with
the terms of the undertaking which did not in their View
contain a binding obligation on Judah to pay in any event
at the stipulated time. Had it not becn for the conversaticns
between Mr. Dutch Holland cf Imperial Life and the representa-
tives of Bank of Commerce towards the end of January and his
letter of January 30, 1975, there is little likelihood that
the short-term loan would have been made. Mr. Holland's
letter addressed to the Manager of Bank of Commerce in its

opérative paragraphs said:
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""HARQLD ANDRADE

"This letter will confirm the fact
that the above-named has been

granted a loan by Imperial Life
Assurance Company in the amount
of J$148,000.00 and on completion
of the mortgage in October, 1975,
the net proceeds to him will be
J$76,300.00.

"This letter will further confirm
that these net proceeds (the amount
is approximate) will be paid to you
direct by our Solicitors Judah,
Desnoes § Company, and so you will
note a copy of this letter is being
sent to Mr. Roberts who will con-
firm this fact to you that he will
follow these instructions.™

I can find no special relationship between Judah
and Bank of Commerce. Judah did not in the circumstances
owe Bank of Commerce a duty of care and, in any event, there

was no breach of any represcntation made by Judah, giving

rise to damage on the part of Bank of Commerce. Accordingly,

I would allow the awpeal of Judah set aside the judgment of
the Court below and enter judgment for Judah with costs
against the plaintiff/resnondent to be taxed or agreed.
Since preparing this opinion I have had the
opportunity to read in draft the opinion of Carberry, J.A.
I would apree with his conclusion that Bank of Commerce
could not succeed against Imperial Life if this action

sounded only in contract.

204
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KERR, J.A.:

I have read the opinion of Rowe, P. (as he now is)
and I entirely agree with his reasons and conclusions.
I would dismiss the appeal of Imperial Life with costs to
the respondent to be agreed or taxed. I would allow the
appeal of Judah, Desnoes & Co. and enter judgment in their
favour against the respondent with costs to be agreed or

taxed.
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CARBERRY, J.A.:

This case raises several issues of importance to
the business community of Jamaica: amongst them are the
relationship between the resnective parties in what is called
"bridging” or “interim” finance, the meaning and effect in
law of what are called locally "letters of commitment™, and
the significance and effect of 2n "undertaking' eiven by an
attorney-at-law, The genesis and prime cause of the wholc
imbroglio however springs from the fact that in this case the
first-named defendant, The Imperial Life Assurance Company of
Canada, (hereinafter called the Insurance Company), a Comvany
incorporated in Canada, but carrying on business in Jamaica,
chose to keep the documents of title, which it held as
securities for mortgages or lcans made by it in Jamaica. at its
Fead Office in Canada instead cf at its place of business in
Kingston. The effect of this was that its local agents and
their attorneys-at-law in Jamaica were considerably handicapped
in the conduct of their everyday business in Jamaica by lack of
access to these documents. Another factor at work was that not
only the Insurance Company, but 21so the original plaintiff,
The Canadian Bank of Commerce (now translated into the Bank of
Commerce Jamaica Ltd. and hereinafter called The Eank) was also
incorporated in Canada, and it anpears that both Companies befrro
engaging in any moderately substantial investments or lending
of money to local businessmen found it necessary to first secek
and obtain apvroval from their Fead Offices in Canada. I express
no opinion as to the commeicial necessity or policy involved, but
it must have sliowed down the rate at which their business was
conducted, and I think that, ccupled with the lack of access tc
the documents of title, difficulties in communication wnlayed

their part in the circumstances leading up to the present
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litigation. 3Both the Pank and the Insurance Company were
apparently on friendly terms, sharing the same building in down-
town Kingston. The second-named defendants, Judah, Desnoes §
Co. were a firm of attorneys, well known and respected in the
commercial and legal world, and in this instance were the
attorneys-at-law for the Insurance Company. They are hereafter
referred to as The Attorneys.

Missing, in every sense, from this lineupr of the
parties in this case, is a local businessman Harold Andrade,
who conducted a business Metstrut Limited on premises at
36 Hagley Park Road, Kingston 10,

The story 1in outline is this: Mr. Andrade apparently
wished to borrow money to expand his business on those premises.
He was a customer of both th¢ Bank and the Insurance Company.

e had already borrowed money from the Insurance Company on a
first mortgate of these premises, he now wanted to borrow more.
The Insurance Company indicated willingness to increase their
loan to him by increasing the size of their first mortgage:; they
already had his title decds, a Registered Title, but these¢ werc
in Canada. Fe wanted an additional loan of some $80,000.00 but
the Insuranchggmpany were not orepared to make the actual
advance until/ next year, September of 1975, Their rates of
interest were attractive, and they had already lent money to him.
Fe was no doubt anxious to secure this advance on those terms,
but he needed the money urgently, and with this in mind he
approached, through an insurance salecsman employed to the Insuranc.
Company, his Bank Manager at the local branch of the Bank; a

Mr. Shim. Mr. Andrade sought to persuade the Bank to lend him
money now (December, 1974) on the strength of the loan promised
to him by the Insurance Company in next year Scptember, 1975. 7o
anticipate, the Bank naturally got irn touch with the Insurance

Company to verify that they were geing to lend Mr. Andrade this
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money, with a view to seeing that when it was advanced it would
come to them. The Bank naturally sought to make its own
position as secure as possible: in this litigation the Bank
alleges that it achieved a contract with the Insurance Company
by which the Company bound itself to make the loan and to hand
the proceeds over to the Bank; the Insurance Ccmpany for 1its
part denies that any such contract was made, though admitting
that they had fully intended to make a loan to Andrade, and
had so told the Bank. In the event two things happened: the
Bank went ahead on the strength of (i) its own investigations
into Mr., Andrade's affairs, and (ii) the assurances it got from
the Insurance Company, (whatever these may turn out to be),
and they made actual advances toc Mr. Andrade totalling some
$76,300.00. In these negotiations thc sttorneys-at-law employcd
by the Insurance Company to draw u» the documents that were to
constitute the expanded first rortgage of Mr. Andrade's premises
to the Insurance Company, were asked by their clients to give an
"undertaking” to the Bank that there would be a mortgage et ccetern.
They did so, in guarded terms, but subsequently became involved
in the affair nevertheless.

At the time that these negotiations were being conducta’,
the title to Mr. Andrade's land was in Canada with the Head
Office of the Insurance Company. Though it would have been
possible to check it at the Registrar of Titles Office in Kingstor
with some difficulty no one thought to do so. The Attorneys were
there to give effect to their clients business transactions,
rather than tc advise them.as to how to run them. They asked in
due course for dMr. Andrade's title to be sent to them, so that
they could prepare and register the new mortgage and it was sent
from Canada. When the Attorneys received it they then discoverca
for the first time that there was a second mortgage to another

Bank the first National City Bank, for the sum of $40,000.00.
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The Attorneys advised their clients the Insurance Company of

this fact: it appears that the value of the land was not such

that it could accommodate all three mortgages, and certainly their
existing first mortgage could not hz extended to cover the
additional money to be lent, unless of ccurse the second
mortgagees were paid off or agreed to permit the existing first
nortgage to be extended and to take priority over their own.

The second mortgapge registered against Mr. Andradefs
title could not have been so registered unless that title,haa
been released to Mr. Andrade and the second mortgagee to enable
the second mortgage to be registered. This must have been done
with fhe knowledge and consent of somecne in the Insurance
Company's office, and possibly soneone in their Attorney's office
may have known of this. This fact had however been lost sight of.
Possibly this may have been due to the transfer of the officer
in the Insurance Company who had originally dealt with the first
mortgage. Fowever, due to the fact that the title was in
Canada the existence of the second mortgage had not been apprecinted,
‘that was to be done? Attempts to get ir. Andrade to clear off
the second mortgage to enable the transaction to go throusgh failc(.
The Insurance Company advised the Bank that in the circumstances
they wculd no longer make their promised advance, as they could
no longer get a first mortgage. The Bank in effect said: "You
sromised to do so, and on the faith of that promise we have
advanced some $76,300.09 to Andrade. You must make that good to
us. You should have known the position all along: you had his
title.” The Bank in effect replied: '"We said we would advance
the money on an enlarged first mortgage: we told you that. This
is not now possible, and we are not liable to you. You were
under a duty to vrotect ycurselves. You investigated Andrade's

affairs and relied on that."”

/9
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Mr. Andrade does not figure in the present litigation.
No one has sued him, and he is missing from this litigation.
ior do we know whether the land in question, the business in
question, or his assets otherwise are adeguate or available to
meet the total of his indebtedness,

The Bank has sued (a) the Insurance Company, against
whom it is alleged that a contract was made by which they bound
themselves to refund advances made to Andrade by the Bank:
alternatively it is alleged that the Insurance Company is liable

in negligence to the Bank, The Bank has in addition (b) sued

the Attorneys of the Insurance Company upon their "undertaking”

ziven at the suggestion of the Insurance Company to the Bank at

2 time when the Bank was contemplating whether toc make "interim”
or "bridging™ finance available to Mr. Andrade. It seems to be
alleged that the Attorneys, though agents of the Insurance
Company are alsc liable in negligence, though this is by no means
clear., The statement of claim contains allegations that the

Jefendants made false representations to the plaintiffs, but thesc

representations are implied rather than explicit, and it does not
appear that a cause of action in deceit (i.e. for false repre-
sentations) was ever seriocusly pursued either before us or below
before Parnell, J.

The case calls for a careful analysis of the corres-
pondence passing between the parties, and the alleged oral dis-
cussions between employees of the Bank and the Insurance Company.

Giving evidence on behalf of the Bank were Mr, S.A. Shim,

the Manager of the local branch that handled the loan to Mr. Andrade

and Mr. J. Krukowski who was Assistant Area Manager of the Bank in
Jamaica. The Insurance Company called no witnesses. The Attorneys
called Mr. R.D. Roberts, the member of the firm who dealt with

the matter on behalf of the Insurance Company.

b
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The trial lasted some eight days, and judgment was
reserved for some three months, at the end of which the learned
trial judge delivered an coral judgment. All that we have of it
is the few notes or headings which he used in giving judgment.

Fe appears to have held that both the Bank and their attorneys
had actual or constructive knowledre of the existence of the
second mortgage at the time that the Bank was seeking from them
binding promises (to use a neutral word) that the loan would be
made to Mr. Andrade and that its proceeds would be sent to the
Bank. That with this knowledge in their possession they led

the Bank to believe 'that all was clear for the advances to be
made to Andrade’. The learned judpe seems to have held that both
the Insurance Ceompany and the Attorneys gave “undertakings’ to

the Bank, and declining to apportion blame as between the two
defendants, he gave judgment for the Bank against both for the
sum of $76,300.90 and with interest thereon at the rate of 141%
from the 1st October, 1975 until the date of judgment (22nd May, 1291).

With respect, the note that we have of the judgment
leaves a number of matters unresclved, As I understand it the
liability of an Attorney on his undertaking is a cause of action
sui generis, and exists quite apart from questions of contract
and tort. A little more will be said about it later on. As to
liability in either contract or tort the judgment seems to be
silent. There is no finding against either party in negligence.
There is no finding against the Insurance Company in contract;
(as to contract, the Attorneys wculd not normally be personally
liable, they being only agents for a discleosed principal):
conversely, the Insurance Company to be liable to the Bank would
have to be liable in contract (they would not normally be liable
on the undertaking of their attorneys save to indemnify them in

case they ordered the undertaking to be given)
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The result of this is that in the arsuments before us
matters have been at larpe and have been canvassed de novo,
neither side beine able to say with any certainty what was the
finding of the Trial Judre on any particular aspect. For examnle
the Judre records: "I accept the evidence of both Mr. Shim and
Mr. Krukowski concernin¢ their understandins of the undertakino.”

Does this mean that he accepted that these centlemen
did in fact belicve what they said they believed, or is it meant
to go further and to be a finding that their belief is in fact
and in law the proper construction of the "undertaking', and if
so what is to bc the result if they say they wanted something
firmer to satisfy them, but did not get it?

The first question to be answered should lopically be:

Was there ever a contract between the Bank and the Insurance

Company? If so what was it? The fact that they both had a comno:
borrower, Mr. Andrade, and that each may make a contract with hinm
to lend him money does not mean that there was necessarily any
contract between these two lenders. The Bank asserts that there
was such a contract, and bases it on (i) some seven letters; (ii)
oral discussions between officers of both Companies; and (iii) on
the conduct of the parties.

Mr. Andrade first approached the Insurance Company, this
was evidently sometime prior to the 7th November, 1974. The
application was for an additional first mortsase of {80,000.00 on
his property 34-36 Facley Park Road. Fe must have known that
there was already a second mortgace on it to First National City
Bank (hereafter called F.N.C.B.), but it seems clear that the
local staff of the Insurance Company (the title being in Canada)
did not know that, or if they knew had forootten it, and that they
sent for approval of their Fead Office a2 proposal by him to
increase his existins first mortsapge to them to $148,000.00 an

increase of $80,000.00. It was however clear that this sum would
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not actually be advanced until September of the ensuine year,

In this situation Mr. Andrade approached the fZank for
interim” or "bridcins” finance. Ye did not offer nor did the
Bank ask for any additional or collateral security for their
loan. It is I think important to remember that Mr. Andrade was
already, with his Commany, a customer of the Bank. It appears
from the evidence of Mr. Shim, the local Branch Manaser of the
Bank, that the RBank indicated as its conditions for cranting the
interim loan (1) that Mr. Andrade should issue to the Insurance
Company an irrevocable "letter of undertakinc’™ (what is meant
is irrevocable instructions) requirine them to pay the proceeds
of their mortcace loan direct to the Bank; (2) that the Insurance
Company should cive to the Bank “a firm irrevocable undertaking”
that they would pay the proceeds of themortvare direct to the
Bank; (3) that Mr. Andrade should bring in to the Bank a statement
of his assets and liabilities. The object of (3) was to verify
that he or his business would be able to keep up the interest
nayments on the interim loan. It did not evidently occur to the
Bank to wonder if the Insurance Company had good security for its
loan, nor that it would be wise to ret some security for their
own. Mr. Andrade evidently communicated this to the Insurance
Company (actually the initial approach on his behalf was nade by
by a salesman of the Insurance Company). The result was,alletter

of 7th November, 1974 from Mr. A. Blain of the Insurance Company

to the Bank Manaper Mr. Shim). It is at parce 65 of the bundle

and reads:
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” IMPERIAL LIFE ASSURANCE
COMPANY OF CAMADA

7th., November, 1974

The Manager

Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce
New Kingston

Kingston 5

Jamaica

Dear Sir:

Re: Additional Mortgage - $80,000
34~-36 Hagley Park Road Kingston 10

We hereby confirm that subject to approval of the
official Mortgage Application form sent by us to our Head
Office, we are prepared to grant an additional first
mortgage of $80,000.90 on the above property. These funds
would be disbursed by us within one year of receiving
approval of the loan from our Fead Office.

We are requesting a letter of commitment from our
Fead Office. As soon as this is received, we shall
forward it to Mr. Andrade.
Yours very truly,
[sgd./ A. Blain
BRANCE OFFICE SUPERVISOR ¥

On the 17th December, 1974, the Insurance Company

wrote to Mr. Andrade (a) a covering letter from Mr. Blain, cud

(b) enclosed a letter from its Head Office "approving’ his
application for a first mortgage loan. The letters appear

at pages 67 and 68 of the bundle and read thus:

" December 17, 1974

Mr. Harold Ferbert Andrade,
b.0. Box 412,

36, Iagley Park Road,
Kingston,

Dear Sir:

This is to confirm that your recent mortgage for the
property 34-36 Hagley Park Road, Kingston, has been approved
for the amount of $80,000.00 at an interest rate of 12.5%
per annum. This new mortgage when blended with your
existing mortgage will make 2 total loan of $148,000.00.
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"Interest for the blended total will be at 11.5% ner
annur. The monthly payment amount will be $1,551.31.

We trust these arrangements are satisfactory.
Yours very truly,

/sed./ A. Blain
Branch Office Supervisor
AB/rm Accepted: Farold P. Andrade

17/12/74 i
" TEE
IMPERIAL LIFE ASSURANCE
COMPANY OF CANADA FEAD OFFICE: 95 St. Clair
Avenue West; Toronto 7, Canada

Mr. Farold E. Andrade Date 17 December 1974

34-36 Eagley Park Road

Kingston 10, Jamaica Security 34-36 Fagley Park Road

Address Kingston, Jamaica

Commitment #0011461

You will be pleased to know that your application for a First
Mortgage Loan has been approved as follows and placed in the
hands of our Scolicitors with instructions to proceed
immediately.

Amount of approved loan - J$5148,000.00
Rate of interest - 11.50%

Term § Amortization - 20/20
Monthly repayment - J$1,551.31

Monthly payments are to be made by a series of twelve post-
dated cheques to be lodged with the Company annually during
the continuance of this mortgage.

We require a 1% Commitment Deposit, which will be refunded
with the final disbursement of the mortgage funds.

A 2% Placement Fee on J$80,000.00 is to be deducted from the
proceeds of this loan.

Existing Mortgage # 33960 to be paid from the proceeds of new
loan, .

No funds to be advanced on the security until September 1975.
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"Fire Insurance must be placed through Life and General
Insurance Brokers.

Ceneral Assipnment of all rents required.

This commitment is contingent uoon and will only remain
in force subject to:

(@) your signed acceptance of this offer being returned
to our office on or before January 7, 1975 failing
which it will be immediately withdrawn without
further communication;

(b) production by you to our Solicitors of all title
documents, fire insurance policies etc., where
applicable, as may be required by our Soliciters
within TEN days thereafter;

() the title being satisfactory to oup Solicitors;

Judah, Desnoes & Co.
P.O. Box 8, Kingston, Janaica W.I.

(d) completinn of all legal details deemed by them to
be necessary and desirable including your execution
of the Deed of Lecan/Mortrape Document and other related
documents in a form satisfactory to our Sclicitors, and
commencement of construction (where applicable)
within 90 days from the date hereof;

(Should an extensicn of time be required and granted,
interest will immediately begin to accrue at the above
rate.)

for INVESTMENT ADMINISTRATIOM DEPARTMENT

/sgd./ Mrs. T.G. Rau
T®R/pd Mortgage Assistant

TO:

THE IMPERIAL LIFE ASSURANCE COMPANY OF CANADA

P.0. 212
Kingston, Jamaica

I/We hereby accept this offer of a mortgage loan on
the terms and conditions set out above.

Dated 6/1/75 Signed Farold E. Andrade

Original for Head Office
c.c. - Branch Office, Solicitors, Applicant, Applicant’s Banker

1017 (Rev. 6/71) South
Please sign and return the top copies retaining the last one
for your records."
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A few comments may be made about the Form letter from
the Fead Office of the Insurance Company. It clearly falls

far short of a contract or mortgage., In fact it is an offer

only and required that the prospective mortgagee should

indicate his acceptance of its terms by returning it with his

signature endorsed in the part of the form at the bottom.

The copy exhibited shows that Mr. Andrade did that, and for
good measure endorsed acceptance on the covering letter also.
Further the documents clearly anticipate that formal

mortgages are to be prepared by the Company's solicitors
(attorneys-at-law they are now called) Messrs. Judah, Desnoces
and Co. and that the titles and other documents are to be
satisfactory to them, and that the mortgage when approved

and settled is to be executed by the mortgagor. At that stage
and then only will there be a proper mortszage agreement, and
at that no funds will be advanced on it until September, 1975,
It is clearly a '"'subject to contract’” arrangement. It will
bind no one until the morteage has been executed, and it 1is
clear that it is to be a first mortgage in which the existing
first mortgage will be paid off or consolidated into thec new
first mertgage. This document is the ""Retter of commitment®
to come from Head Office, which is referred to in the letter
of 7th November 1974 written to the Bank by the Insurance
Company. It is not clear whether the Bank was then given a
copy of this "letter of commitment” by either Mr. Andrade or
the Insurance Company, but on the same day, the 17th December,
1974, Mr. Andrade wrote to the Bank the letter that appears

at page 65 of the bundle, and his letter refers to the

Insurance Company's letter to him of that date. It reads:
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v METSTRUT LIMITED
36 FACLEY PARK ROAD,
P.0. BOX 412
KINGSTON 10, JAMAICA, W.I.

17th December, 1974

Mr. F. Shim,
Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce,

Xnutsford Boulevard,
KINGSTON 5.

Dear Sir:

I understand from Mr. Hylton of Imperial Life,
that you have requested that I give an irrevocable
undertaking to them for the payment of the proceeds
of $80,000, being the amount arreed to be loaned to me
as per their letter dated 17th December, 1974.

This is to confirm that should you grant
approval of this loan, that I am prepared to issue the
irrevocable instruction to Imperial Life to pay these

proceeds directly to you, as and when you approve the
loan as being granted,

Yours faithfully,
/szd./ Harold E. Andrade *

It is at this stare that the second defendants, the
attorneys-at-law of the Insurance Company, enter the picture.
The "letter of commitment” had spoken of approving the loan and
that it had been "placed in the hands of our Solicitors with
instructions to proceed immediately". At page 103 of the bundle

there is exhibited, (but not here reproduced), a2 form entitled

Requisition to Solicitors, dated 17th December, 1974, and

addressed to Judah, Desnoces § Co. from the Fead Office of the
Insurance Company, setting out some of the details of the pro-
posed mortgage and instructing the nreparation of the new first
mortgage. The form says Certificates of Title and Surveyor’s
Certificates enclosed. It was not enclosed. What was enclosed

was a form headed '"Certificate of Title” in which apparently a

Canadian Solicitoer certifies that he has examined the Title

4248
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documents of the nortgagor and certifies to the Insurance
Company Head Office that this is a good marketable title,
that the borrower has executed a mortzage which has been duly
registered and is a first charge on the said property. It
appears that this procedure is the one customarily used in
Canada by this Company in respect of its loans on Canadian

securities. This apparently is the document kept on file, and

one wonders if the Jamaican Registered Title is also kept on

file or sent to and kept by the Canadian Solicitor who certifies
it. This may or may not account for the Fead Office of tne
Insurance Company not realizing that there was a second mortgage
on this property.

Be that as it may, in late December 1974, according to the
evidence of Mr. Roberts, the member of the firm Judah, Desnoes
§ Co. who dealt with the matter, he was asked by Mr. Blain of

the Insurance Company to cive a letter of undertaking to the Bank

as Mr. Andrade was arranging '"bridging financing”. Mr. Roberts
did so, in guarded terms, and this undertaking appears at page

69 of the bundle and reads thus:

"The Manager,

Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce,

New Kingston,

Kingston 5. 31st December, 1974.

Dear Sir,

Re: Farold Andrade T

We have to advise that Mr. Harold Andrade has been
granted a loan from the Imperial Life Assurance Company of
Canada of J$148,000.00, and on completion of the mortgage,
he should receive approximately J376,300.00.

The mortgage however, is not due for completion untit
October, 1975, and you have our undertaking to forward you
the amount of J$76,305.00 at that time, subject to satis-
factory completion of the mortgase.

Yours faithfully,
JUWAF, DESNOES & CO.,

Per: /szd./ R.D. Roberts "




~-Z1-

Mr. Roberts stated in his evidence that when he received

the Requisition to Seolicitors form this was the first time that

he was hearing of this mortgage transaction. Fe did understand
that there was already an existing first mortgage, that he was
to discharge the old mortgage and prepare and register the new
one in its place. It is important to note that neither the

Requisition to Sclicitors nor its accompanying document headed:

"Certificate of Title" contained any note of the particulars

of the Registered Title; it merely referred to the premises

as 34-36 Hagley Park Road. It would therefere have presented
very real practical problems at that stage for the Attorneys tc
establish (a) that the title was registered, and (b) to track
down the Volume and folio number at the Titles Office and inspect
the original Title there.

The guarded nature of the undertaking given by the Attorneys
on the 31st Pecember 1974 was reccgnized. Apparently further
discussions took place between the Bank and the Insurance Company.
Mr. Shim says that what the Bank wanted was an "irrevocable
letter of undertaking." It seems to me that what the Bank wanted,
if it ever consciously formulated its requirement, was not an
irrevocable letter of undertaking or commitment, whatever that
phrase may mean, but that they wanted (i) a firm contract or
mortgage that bound the Insurance Company to lend to Mr. Andrade,
and (ii) a contract that bound the Insurance Company to hand
over the loan proceeds, on instructions from Andrade, to the
Bank. No one could at that time have given the Bank what they
wanted, for the simple reason that no firm contract had yet beesn
made with Mr. Andrade. The preparation of the mortgage was stiil
far away in the future.

In this situation it appears that the resident supervisor
of the Southern Branches of the Iasurance Company,

Mr. Dutch Holland visited the island. Fe discussed the matter
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and told the Bank that the "irrevocable letter of undertaking”

that they wanted would have to come from the Insurance Company's

nifanager
Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce
Knutsford RBoulevard
Kingston 5.

Dear Sir: January 30, 1975

FARCLD ANDRADE

This letter will confirm the fact that the above-
named has been c¢ranted a loan by the Imperial Life
Assurance Company in the amount of J$148,000.00 and cn
completion of the mortgage in October, 1975, the net
proceeds to him will be J$76,300.00.

This letter will further confirm that these net
proceeds (the amount is approximate) will be paid to
you direct by our Scolicitors Judah, Desnoes § Company,
and as you will note a copy of this letter is being
sent to Mr. Roberts who will confirm this fact to you
that bhe will follow these instructions.

Ycurs very truly,

/sgd./ Dutch Folland

Resident Supt.

of Southern Branches
DE:rm

cc. Richard Roberts'

On the same day, 30th January, 1875, the Attorneys as

requested wrote apgain to the Bank, sec page 71 of the bundle,

follows:

"The Manager

Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce

New Kings@on

Kingston 5. DATE: 30th January, 1975.
Dear Sir:

Re: Farold Andrade

Further to our letter of the 31st December last,

we write to confirm that we have been instructed both by
Mr. Harold Andrade and the mortgagees, Imperial Life, to

Fe wrote to the Bank on January 30, 1975 as fcllows -
(page 70 of bundle):

/231
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''pay over to you the proceeds of the loan obtained by
Mr, Andrade on the conditions stated in our letter
referred to above.

Yours faithfully,
JIDAH, DEGNQOES § CO.
/sgd./R.D. Roberts
In point of both fact and law this second letter added
very little to their letter of 31st December, 1974, save that
it said that both the mortgacees and Mr. Andrade had instructed
that the mortgage money be paid over when received, and it still
referred to the conditions noted before 1i.e. ‘'subject to the
satisfactory completion of the mortgare’,
It appears that the Bank contented itself with these
two letters. Their Head Office and their local office approved
the loan to Mr., Andrade, though it is clear that they continued
to regard the letters from the Attorneys as '“'too broad”, meaning
that they did not satisfy their wish to get an irrevocable
{unconditional) undertaking. Nevertheless they nroceeded to
commence the disbursements to Mr. Andrade, even before the formal
approval of their Head Office was rececived.
The advances made were as follows:

February  February 3, 1975 $ 15,000.00
e i

5, 40,000.00

" 10, * 11,000.,00

" 21, °© 5,000.00
March 3, ¢ 5,000.00

$ 76,000.00

By letter dated 6th February, 1975, a member of the Head
Office staff of the Insurance Company wrote to the Bank (@Ep. 73/74

of the bundle) as follows:
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" 6th Tebruary 1975

Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce
Knutsford Blvd.
Kingston 5, Jamaica

Attention: The Manager

Dear Sirs:

Farold F. Andrade
34-36 Hagley Park Road
Kingston 10, Jamaica
Commitment #0011461

We enclosed herewith a copy of our commitment
letter dated the 17th of December 1974 and accepted
by the applicant 6th January 1975. We understand
that you have requested a number of undertakings from
us, and while we are prepared to co-operate to the
fullest extent, there are certain limitations over
which we have no contrcl that arc involved,

1. We cannot at this time fix the

date of payout specifically other

than to state that we are not pre-
pared to advance the funds prior to
September 1st, 1975. At the same

time we would anticipate that our
Solicitors will be in a position to
requisition funds immediately there-
after, and if they do so, we undertake
to provide the funds at that time.

2. If Mr. Andrade has requested that the
funds in connection with this increase
are to be paid to you, and our Solicitors
have acknowledsed receipt of such a
direction to ycu, then we have absolute
confidence in their ability to observe
this undertaking. Ihder circumstances
such as these, we do not become involved
once the funds have been released by us
to our Solicitors.

This seems a very simple and straightforward
transaction and once ocur Solicitors® legal requirements
have been satisfied we would anticipate that the matter
will proceed and will be handled to your entire satis-
faction.

Yours very truly,

/sod./ K.C. Rivers
Assistant Administrative Officer

K.C. Rivers
D

3.
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I think that this letter has been wrongly attributed to
v, Folland. It should be noted however that it came after the
3nnk had already approved the loan to !r. Andrade, and had alreadly
advanced him some (!55,000. The letter enclosed a copy of the
formal letter of commitment sent to lir. Andrade by the Insurance
Company, dated the 17th December, 1974, and already set out above.
s was noted earlier, it shows clearly that up to that date there

oxisted no bindine contract between the Insurance Company and

N

Ir. Andrade, and it referred to "our solicitors' legal requirements”
being satisfied. MNevertheless the author recarded this as a very
simple and straightforward transaction. This it was not! Though
the Bank kept saying it wanted "an irrevocable undertaking® it

’id not get what it needed; that is a binding contract between the
Insurance Company and Mr. Andrade, for ncne was ever made. Nor did
the Bank ret a bindiny contract of its own with the Insurance
{ompany, it ot a conditional undertakinz from their Attorneys.

What happened thercafter may shortly be told. The Bank
made advances to Mr. Anirade to the extent of $76,000 and he was
to pay them 1431%. Fe appears to have defaulted on these interest
nayments,

In the meanwhile the Insurance Company's attorneys having
recovered the Registered Title certificate from the Company,
cxamined it and noted the existence of the second mortgage to
F.N.C.B. which had been hitherto overlocked by all. On the 21st
May 1975 Mr, Roberts pointed ocut to the Insurance Company, his
clients, that unless the second nortogageeagreed, it would not be
nossible to register the new advance as part of the original first
aortgage, and that the new advance would rank after the existing

sccond mortgage.




-35-

The Insurance Company did not make the promised advance,
and in due course it wrote the Bank on 7th November, 1975, some
five months after the discovery of the second mortgarge, the

letter at page 82 of the bundle. It reads:

" Movember 7, 1975,

Mr. Tom Rhoden,

Manager,

Canadian Imperial Bank cf Commerce,
60 Xnutsford Boulevard,

Kingston 5.

Dear Mr. Rhoden,

Re: Harocld Andrade

N

When our lawyer, Richard Rcberts, was
processing the title for the property at 34 - 36
Hagley Park Road he discovered that there was a
second mortgage on this property. The loan was
suppose! to be disbursed on October 1st, 1975,
Fowever, because there was a second mortgate on
this property, Our Company refused to pay out
this leoan. Mr., Andrade asked for an extension
and it was granted. During this time he was to
clear the property of the seccond mortgage. The
disbursement date was exten'ed to April 1st, 1976,
I am attaching a ccpy of the cxtension agreement
showing the terms of the extension.

I apologise that the bank was nct infcrmed
of this extensicn, Under these circumstances,
please consider extending the vericd of the loan
which Mr. Andrade has with your bank to April 1, 1976.

Yours very truly,

/sgd./ A.O. Blain _
BRANCE OFFICE SUPERVISOR

A.0. Blain QMr.)
/mc
Encl.

c.c. Mr. Farold Andrade ¥

Efforts to get Mr. Andrade to pay off the second mortsage
so that the original first mortgage could be discharged and a

aew first mortgage registered failed.
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On 16th January of 1976 the Branch Manager of the Bank

wrote to Judah, Desnoes & Co. as follows:

"January 16, 1976

Judah, Desnoes § Co.
Attorneys-at-Law

4 Duke Street
Kingston

Attention Mr. Richard Roberts

Dear Sirs;

Re: lMortgage - larold Andrade f Imperial Life

On December 31, 1976 ,ou gave us your undertaking
to pay over $7¢ "00 in October 1875 subject to
satisfactory completion of a mortgage granted to
the abovenamed Farold Andrade by the Imperial Life
Assurance Company of Canada. That date has now
passed.

We are now calling on you to comply with your under-
taking within seven days of receipt of this letter.

Yours truly

/sgd./ T.H. REODEN
Manager "

Mr. Roberts replied for Judah, Desnoes § Co. on the

23rd January, 1976 (page 8% of the bundle) as follows:

"The Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce,
60 Knutsford Boulevard,

KINGSTONM 5. 23rd January, 1976

Dear Sirs:

Re: Farold Andrade - Mortgage to
Imperial Life

We have your letter of the 16th instant
requesting us to settle the amount of §76,300.00,
but we have to advise that up to date the mortgage
has not been completed.

When we obtained the Title from Imperial Life,
to complete the mortgage, it was discovered that
there was a second mortgage endorsed thereon, and
before Imperial Life can complete their new mortgage
they require either that the second mortgage be
settled, or that the First National City Bank who
are the second mortgagees consent to Imperial Life's
mortgage ranking prior to theirs.

A

A
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1

As far as we are aware, Mr. Andrade requested
an extention of the martzage commitment to March
1st, 1976, by which time he¢ expects to settle the
second mortgage. We are still awaiting con-
firmation from Imperial Life on this matter.

Yours faithfully,
JWAY, DESNCES & CO.

Per: /sgd/ R.D. Roberts "

The present action by the Bank against the Insurance
Company and their Attorneys was brouecht in November, 1977. The
endorsement on the writ shows that the Bank claimed against the
Insurance Company (a) for breach of contract, alternatively (b)
in negligence; and as against the Attorneys (a) for breach of
their undertaking, alternatively (b) in negligence.

The correspondence set out above (apart from the letter
of demand to Judah, Desnoes § Co. and their reply) constitutes
the base on which the Bank asserts that a contract had been
made between them and the Insurance Company. The oral evidence
which has also been referred to adds little to it. For complete-
ness it should be noted that Mr. Krukowski said in evidence that
at the critical time, towards the end of January, he spoke to
MYr. Dutch Holland who "re-assured us cf the credibility of
Imperial Life and the genuineness of its commitments.” He also
reported that the Bank's lead Office approved the loan on the
28th January, 1975, and advised Mr. Shim of this on the 4th
February. (But the first payment out was made on the 3rd
February, 1975).

I think that the following conclusions flow from the
evidence and the correspondence set out above:

First, there was never a binding contract between the
Insurance Company and Mr. Andrade to make the advance or mortgage

loan of $80,000.00. The result is that to the extent that the

Bank might have any right to stand in Mr. Andrade's shoes vis-a-vis

the Insurance Company, they have notiting to stand on.

i
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Secondly, there was never any binding contract betwecen

the Bank and the Insurance Company, by which the latter con-
tracted to make $76,300.00 or any other such sum available to
the Bank in September of 1975, I would quote in this connection
some observations made as long ago as 1908, by a distinguished
Australian Judge, Figgins, J. in a leading case in that juris-

diction: Barrier Wharfs Ltd. v. W. Scott Fell § Co. Ltd. (1508)

5> C.L.R. 647 at 650:

"The question is, was there such a
contract? Now, the burden of proof

lies, of course, on the plaintiffs.

If there was not a complete contract,

the plaintiffs must fail. The law

knows no gradations in the contractual
relation. It knows nothing of virtual
agreements, or honourable understandings.
Even if the defendants werc shown to have
disappointed the legitimate expectations
cf the plaintiffs for some unworthy
recason - to have meanly backed out of
almost completed negotiations - the
action must fail. There is no contract
unless the two parties mutually con-
sented to be bound one to the other by
one agrecment....”

It may be that as a matter of business parties arc often

content to rely on and do use "letters of commitment,” but in
the final analysis a "letter of commitment'® usually does not
amount to a concluded contract or agrecement., It merely indicates
that the parties are prepared on the basis indicated tc do
business with one another: if they wish to go further and bind
themselves in law to do so, then they must make a contract. 1In
the instant case the ""letter of commitment" written by the
Insurance Company to Mr. Andrade amounted merely to an offer to
do business on the terms indicated. FHe was required not only

to accept that offer, but to enter into a formal mortgage agree-
ment. The document clearly anticipates that such an agreement,
and one to grant a first mortgage, would have to be made before

the Company was to make its advance. It clearly contemplated
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that the approval of their attorneys to the title was necessary.
in the event no such agreement or mortgage contract was ever made.
As to the Bank, leaving apart for the moment the under-
taking received fr@m Judah, Desnoes § €o., it is clear that they
never got an agrecement from the Insurance Company. What they gct
were reassurances, suggestions that the Insurance Company took
their "commitments’ (to Andrade) very seriously, but in my
judgment no contract was ever made between the Bank and the
Insurance Company. An honcurable understanding is net a contract
I think that those who propose to grant "bridging
finance™ ought in their own protection to see and make sure
(i) that the borrower has in fact got a final contract (not
commitment) with the long term lender; and (ii) that they them-
selves have 2 binding contract with the long term lender as to
the disposal of the loan. FHad the mortgage contract with
Mr. Andrade materialized, then condition (i) wculd have been met,
and it would have been comparatively easy to find condition
(ii); but in this case all depended on the completion of conditic-
(). The Bank was at 2ll times aware that the completion of
the mortgage was a necessary pre-condition to their obtaining
the proceeds of the mortgage loan. Iunstead, they chose to take
their chances on the dependability of Mr. Andrade and the letter:
of undertaking received from the lcong term lenders' attorneys.
The Insurance Company for its pdrt was wcll aware that the Bank
wished to secure a contract that would bind it, and were equall-
determined not to give it. 'While we are prepared to co-operate
to the fullest extent, there are certain limitations over which
we have no control that are involved.” (Their letter of 6th
February 1975 to the Bank). They instead suggested an "under-

taking” from their solicitors.
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The second question to be answered is what was the

¢ffect of the "undertaking' given by Judah, Desnoes & Co. here?

In Damodaran v. Choe Kuan Eim (1979) 3 wW.L.R. 382 (.C.) Lord

Diplock cbserved at p. 387 E:
"The main purpose and value of a solicitor's
undertaking in transactions for the sale of
land is that it is enforceable against the
solicitor independently of any claims against

one another by the parties to the contract of
sale.™

In that case the solicitor acting for both vendor and
purchaser received the purchase price from the purchaser and
zave the vendor an undertaking to pay cver the money to him on
registration of the transfer of the land to the purchaser. The
transfer was registered, but the solicitor declined to pay over

the money because he heard that somcone else had a claim to be

a joint owner with the vendor, and jointly entitled to the price.

Feld that this was no excuse for not honouring his undertaking.
An undertaking of this sort is enforceable against a
solicitor quite independently of ncormal legal rules: for

example in In #e Filliard (1845) 2 Dow. § L. 919; 69 R.R. 880, a

solicitor who undertook to pay the debt that his client owed to
the plaintiff was held liable on the undertaking though it woul:
have been caught as a guarantee of the debt of another and was
void under the Statute of Frauds.

Coleridge, J. Observed:

"It seems to me that the Court does not
interfere merely with a view of enforcing
contracts, on which actions might be brought,
in a more speedy and less expensive mode; but
with a view to securing honesty in the conduct
of 1ts officers, i1n all such matters as they
undertake to perform or see performed, when
employed as such, or because they are such
otficers.”
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In In re Crey (1892) 2 Q.B. 440 (C.A.) Lord Esher M.R,.

observed at page 443:

"The principle so laid down is that the
Court has a punitive and disciplinary
jurisdiction over solicitors, as being
officers of the Court, which is exercised,
not for the purpose of enforcing legal
rights, but for the purpose of enforcing
honourable conduct on the part of the
Court's own officers. That power of the
Court is quite distinct from any legal
rights or remedies of the parties, and
cannot, therefore, be affected by anything
which affects the strict legal rights of the
parties.”

We were referred to passages in a recent case, Geoffrey

Silver & Duke v. T.A. Baines (1971) 1 All E.R. 473 which

conveniently set out salient aspects of the law with regard
to enforcing the undertakings of solicitors. Lord Denning, M.R.

said at page 475 {:
"eveeos This court has from time

immemorial exercised a summary jurisdiction

over solicitors. They are officers of the

court and are answerable to the court for

anything that goes wrong in the execution

of their office. Even if the solicitor

has been guilty of no fault personally, but

it is the fault of his clerk, he is accoun-

table for it: see Myers v. Elmar [(1939 4

All E.R. 484; (1940) A.C. 282]. This juris-

diction extends so far that, if a solicitor

gives an undertaking in his capacity as a

splicitor, the court may order him straight-

away to perform his undertaking. It need not

be an undertakingz tc the court. Nor need it

be given in connection with lepal proceedings.

It may be a simple undertaking to pay money,

provided always that it is given 'in his

capacity as a solicitor’: see United Mining

and Finance Corpn Ltd v Becher [ (1910) 2 K.B.

2067 per Yamilton J. 1If such an undertaking

is given,; the court may summarily make an

order on the solicitor to fulfil his under-

taking (see Re a Solicitor [(1966) 3 All E.R.

52]) and, if he then failsg! to do so, the

court may commit him to prison. Alternatively,

if it is an order to pay money, execution may

be levied acainst his property. This summary

jurisdiction means, however, that the solicitor

is deprived of the advantages which ordinarily

avail a defendant on a trial. There are no

pleadings: no discecvery: and no oral evidence

save by leave. The jurisdiction should, there-

fore, only be exercised in a clear case.
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"The first question in the present case is
whether the sclicitor pgave the undertaking
"in his capacity as a solicitor'. This is
difficult to define. But I think it will
usually be found, in regard tc money, that
it is an undertaking to pay money which he
has in his hands on trust, or on an under-
taking that he will apply it in a particular
way. Thus, if a solicitor is acting for a
client on the sale of land, and gives an
undertaking to a bank that he will pay over
so much of the money, when rececived, to the
bank, the undertaking is given ‘in his
capacity as solicitor': see in Re a solicitor
(supra). So also, if a solicitor gives an
amdertaking that he will hold a sum of money
in his hands pendins the conclusion of nego-
tiations, that too is given in his capacity
as a solicitor, as in Unhited Mining and
Finance Corpn Ltd v Becher (supra).”

Widgery, L.J.: made observations to like effect at

“"This was not the common case of an under-
taking given to the court in which any
default is akin to a contempt an’ naturally
attracts the remedy of attachment and
committal. The undertaking in question here
was not givento the court. It was not ewven
given in the course of litigation. There

is clear authority, however, from the
earliest days that a solicitor, being an
officer of the court, is liable to attach-
ment for a breach of an undertaking even
theough the undertaking is not given to the
court itself. But the first requirement

of the exercise of that jurisdiction, as
Lord Denning MR has pointed out, is that

the undertaking in ouestion must have been
given by the solicitor in the course of his
activities as a solicitor. It must be given
by him professionally as a solicitor and not
in his personal capacity. The reason for that
is clear enouph, because a remedy of this
kind is intended »rimarily to discipline the
officers of the court, to ensure the honesty
of those officers. The court is thus
concerned only with their activities as
solicitors, and anything done by a solicitor
in his private capacity is outside this
jurisdiction.”

Cordery on Solicitors, 6th Eldition (1968) at page 164

puts the matter thus:

"Whether an undertaking given by a solicitor
te the court, his client or a third party

‘may be enforced against him personally depends

upon the facts of each case, but the under-
taking must be a personal undertaking aad given

/2
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"by the solicitoer professionally, i.e., as
a solicitor; it must be clear in its
terms; the whole of the undertaking must
be before the court; and the undertaking
must be one which is capable of being
nerformed ab initio."

The giving and enforcing of “undertaking' is peculiar
therefore to solicitors, and, in Jamaica which has a fused
profession, to attorneys-at-law. The liability is free from
technical considerations as tc whether there is consideration
for the promise, or whether a concluded contract has been
reached. The promise or "undertaking™ once made, must be ful-
filled, provided that it is given by an attorney professionally,
and provided that its terms are met. It has become a common-
place in contracts dealing with the sale of land, or mortgaging

the

or the like. As Widgery, L.J. said inZSilver case (ante):
"It is a commonplace that solicitors obtain
possession of momey or doccuments to which
they have no direct right and give an
undertaking that in consideration of being
supplied with the monc¢y or documents they
will deal with them in a particular way.”

The fact that solicitors or attorneys-at-law are subject
to this discipline with regard toc undertakings does not mean that
others who are not in the profession are similarly liable. In
their case the "undertaking"” or promise must be a legally
enforceable agreement or it is nothing at all.

The existence of this liability may sometimes be uscd ¢
give effectiveness to a promise nr representation that would ncot
otherwise be binding, and it is clear that the long term lender
and the short term lender sought in this case to use a solicitar’:
or attorney's undertakino to bridge the pap that existed here
between a mortgare to be created in futuro and a prescent advance
of money apainst that liability when it should finally come intc
existence. This is understandable, but I think that attorneys-

at-law should be careful not to be used as cat's paws in this

type of situation. An attorney who has the title in his
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nossession or the money may give assurances or undertakings with
a fair measure of impunity: one who has neither may find himself
bound by an undertaking that he never had within his power to

fulfil. Cases such as Re A Scolicitor (1966) 3 All E.R. 52 show

a measure of relief, and as Cordery points out in the passage
nbove '"the undertaking must be one which is capable of being
performed ab initio®VW

In any event however the "undertaking" must be construed
to see whether according to its terms it has been broken. The
terms of the undertaking given here have been set out earlier.
The undertaking given by Judah, Desnoss & Co. in their letter to
the Bank of 31st December, 1974 was "tc forward you the amount of

J$76,300.00 at that time, subject to satisfactory completion of

the mortgage'. The undertakine given in the letter of 30th

January, 1975 was “to confirm that we have been instructed both
by Mr. Fkarold Andrade 2nd the mortgagees, Imperial Life, to nay
over to you the proceeds of the loan obtained by Mr. Andracde

on the conditicns stated in our letter referred to above'', (ie.

the letter of 31st December, 1974).

The “undertaking™ so given recauired, as worded, two
conditions: first that there should be satisfactory completion of
the mortgage by Mr. Andrade, and secondly that the proceeds of
the loan so obtained should have been paid by the Insurance
Company to their attorneys. Neither condition has been met, and
I do not think it can be said that the Attorneys are responsible
for the failure of either condition. I would therefore hold that
Judah, Desnoes § Co. are not liable on this undertaking. Falsbury,
3rd Edition Volume 36 (1961) dealing with "Liability upon under-

takings given as a solicitor" paragrarh 266 '"Enforcement of under-

takings” observes ""if the undertaking is conditional, the condition
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must be fulfilled before the undertzking will be enforced”

and cites in suprort Fill v. Flatcher (1850) 5 Tx. 47C; 155

In so far as the learwnes trial judese nurworted to
find both defendants liable “orn the undertaking” I think that
he fell into error,

The plaintiff/respondenis Lowever attemnted to
establish liability of the defendants in tort.

I think it is clesar that in tais case no action lies in
the tort of deceit. "The tort of Jeceit consists in the act ~of
naking a wilfully false statewent with intent that the wlaintif®
shall act in reliance on it, and with the result that he Jdoes
sc act, and suffers harm in consequexrce” ner Salmond on Torts,

17th Edition page 386: paragraph 147: Wlements of Deceit. Fere

o

it is not alleged that any wilfully false statement was macde;
is no allegsation of fraud. Vhat is being surgested 1s that a
false representation was negligently made.

Fowever a consideration of some of the nroblens arisine
in the tort of deceit will brins us to the heart of the =—resent
case. Fleminz on Terts, 4th Ldition wape 555 notes:

"Only misrerresentations of fact are
actionable as deceit. This is commonly
contrasted with 2 mere promise, breach

of which is not a2ctionable either as a
tort or on any other basis than contract.
FJorden v. ltieney (1245) 5 F.L.C. 1%5;
Cocmbe v. Coombe ({1951} 2 K.E. 215]. Yet
svery promlise contains an imnlied state-
ment of fact, viz. of a vresent intent

as to the future. Yhat is really meant
is that 1€ I mok%e 2 wromise with every
intenticn of fulfillin~ it, I czonot be
held liable for deceit, should I subse-
auently become unzble eor unwilling to do
sc. The reason for «his, however, is not
that my wromise is not 2 statement of fact,
but rather that I bolieved the statement
of my nresent intention to be true when 1
made it. VYet, if I never entertained an
intentioca of fulfilline wy vromise, I
cowmit a fraud by falsifyint ny present
intenticn, as when I pass a cheque,
knowing that it is not covered and not
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“intending to honour it. [See Re
Shackleton, ex varte Whittaker (1875)

L. R, 10 Ch.App.446; P¢ Lastgate (1905)

1 .8, 465, 467. As Bowen L.J. once said

in a celebrated passapge, 'the state of a
man’'s mind is as much a fact a2s the state

of his dipcstion. It is true that it is
very difficult to prove what the state of
a man's mind at a particular time is, but if
it can be ascertained it is as much a fact
as anything else.’ [ Bdgington v. Fitzmaurice
(12g85) 29 Ch.D. 45§, 4837, Fence, company
directors have been held liable for deceit
for falsely professing in a prospectus that
the money raised by an issue of debentures
would be used for exvanding activities, when
in truth they were set upon using it for
paying off pressiny debts.

ot only statements of intention, but also
statements of opirion, known to be false,
may be actionable as deceit, because 'the
existence of the opinion in the person
stating it is a qguestion of fact'. [Bisset
v. Wilkinson (1927) £.C. 177, 1821. Tt 1is
true that, where the facts are equally well
known to both parties, a false opinion
expressed thereon by one does not give a
cause for complaint to the other. The real
explanation for this, however, is not that
a statement of opinion is not a statement
of fact about the condition of one's mind,
but that the parties, bargaining at arn's
lenpth, are assumed to be competent to draw
their own conclusions. It follows that, if
the facts are not knownr tc both alike, a
statement of opinion by one who knows the
facts best is often treated as a material
repfesentaticon, for he might be held to
imply that he knows facts which justify his

[ "eferences to scme of the supporting cases

cited omitted as not available leocally].,

Salmond on Torts, 17th Editicn pages 33£-389 says nuch
the same thing at pages 382-389;

“"Thirdly, the misrepresentation must be a

false statement of fact, and not a mere broken
promise. If the words cf the defendant amount

to a mere promise, they cannot be the basis of
an action of tort, and impose no liability cn
him unless they conform to all the requirements
of a valid contract. There is no such thing
known to the law as a nromise which is not good
enough for a contract, but the breach of which

is actionable as a tort.[Jorden v. iMoney (supra)}].
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"The tern fact, however, is used to include
everything excent a vromise. Thus a state-
rent of opinion, if wilfully false, is
actionable as a tort. [Anderson v. Pacific
Insurance Cc. (1872) L.R. 7 C.P. 65, 63 ].
S0 an expression of onirion concerning a
present or future event may be a represen-
tation of fact if it implies that it is an
onrinion presently held. [Eisset v. Wilkinson
(supra)l. ¢¢cevvevv..... 50 also an action
of tort will lie for a false repnresentation
cf intention. An unfulfilled promise to do
a thing is actionable as a contract or not
at all; a false statemant of intention to do
a thing may be actionable as a tort. Thus
in Edgington v. Fitzmaurice (supra), the
directors of a company were held liable for
fraud in borrowing money on behalf of the
company on a false statement of the purpose
to which the loan was to be applied. 'The
state of a man's mind,' said Bowen L.J.,
"is as much a fact as the state of his
digestion,' (supra).”

The problem is that the renresentation made by the
Insurance Company in this case was in effect "we intend to lend
$580,000.00 to Andrade on a mortrage which is to be consolidated
with a first mortgage that we alrecady have on his premises at
Fagley Park Road."

This was a revresentation as to future intent, a
rromise to Andrade that was to be implemented by being put into
formal documents and registered in due course.

The Bank was told of this intent, but no centgact was
ever made between the Bank and the Insurance Compmany to the
effect that "in consideration of my lending Andrade money against
the expectation he hes of getting money from you later, you (the
Insurance Company) must promise (i) to pgo through with your loan
to him, and (ii} in due course repay my advance to him out of it.”

In the absemze of sueh a contract or agreement, vou have
a situation where in e¢ssence the representation on which the
Bank acted is that the Insurance Company stated that they intended

to lend money to Andrade at some time in the future.
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It was not argued that this intention was not honestly
held. What is argued is that there is to be extracted from it
certain premises which were false, and that there was implicit
in the representation certain false statements which were
neglicently made.

Turning to a consideration of possible liability in
negligence the argument before us turned on the effect of

Fedley Byrae & Co. Ltd. v. Feller & Partners Ltd. (1964) A.C.

465 (M.L.) and the cases that have succeeded it.

Comuwenting on the Hedley “yrne case, Lord Diplock,

delivering the majority judgment in the Privy Council case of

Mutual Life and Citizens Assurance Co. Ltd. v. Ivatt (1971)

A.C, 793, said at page 801 F:

“"The several sneeches in ledley Byrne § Co.
Ltd. v. Feller and Partners Ltd. [ 1964] A.C.
455 have lain at the heart of the arpgument

in the courts of Australia and before their
Lordships® Board. That case broadened the
category cf relationshirs between one man and
another which give rise to a duty at common
law to use reasconable skill and care in making
statements of fact or of oninion. Prior to
ledley Byrne it was accented law in kngland
that in the absence of contract the maker of

a statement of fact or of opinion owed to a
person whom he could reasonably foresee would
rely upon it in a matter affecting his
economic interest, 2 duty to be honest in
making the statement. But he did not owe any
duty to be careful, unless the relationship
between him and the person who acted upon it
to his economic detriwent fell within the
category of relationshins which the law
classified as fiduciary. Ttedley Byrne decided
that the class of relationships between the
maker of the statement and the person who acted
upon it to his econowmic detriment which
attracted the duty to be careful was not so
iimited, but could extend to relationships
which thoush not fiduciary in character nossessed
other characteristics.”

tost of the cases that succeceded ledley Byrne, includinc

that case itself, have turned on the question of whether the

cirqumstances disclosed a relationship between the representor
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and represantee, apart from contract, and not amountins to a
fiduciary relationship, sufficient to immose a duty of care in
making a rewresentation.

A variety of tests have been sujgested at one time or
the other for determining whether a "snecial relation' existed
or not, In =vatt's case where the plaintiff had anproached his
Insurance Company for information as to the reliability of one
of its associzted companies, after a sharp division of opinion
amongst all the Judpes who heard the matter, it was decided by
the majority in the Privy Council that the necessary qualifi-
cations for deciding that there was a special relation did not
exist: the maker had not made it in the crdinary course of his
business nor was the subject matter one that called for the
exercise of some skill or competence not nossessed by the ordimar:
recasonable man which the maker of the statement was known by the
recipient to lay claim to by reason of his engaging in that
business or profession: see Lord Dinlcck at page &802.

The special rclationship neczssary to support the
imposition of a duty of care in makins representations has been
found in a number of cases:

In Anderson & Sons v. Rhodes (Liverpool) Ltd. (1557)

2 All E.R. 850 it was found to exist between dealers in the

fruit market, where one enquiring as to the credit-worthiness of

a new comer, was told by the other (neglipgently) ''they are quite
all right.” 1In fact the newv comer owed thousands of pounds to

the representors firm, but due tc the negligence of the accounting
derartment this was unknown to him.

In Essc Petroleun Co. v. Marden (1976) ©.B. 801 (C.A.)

the Company in »nre-contract Jdiscussions told the intending
lessee that their estimated throurh-nut of rfasoline likely to

be sold at the station was 200,900 ~sallons ver year,
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The estimate was negligently made, or rather not re-considered
in the light of the local planning authority having refused

to allow the pumps to front on the main highway, and the actual
through-put proved to be some 78,0060 sallons. The Court of
Apneal found (1) that the renresentation was in fact a con-
tractual warranty; (2) that it was =2l1so a mwegligent represen-
tation by a narty holding itself ocut as having special expertisc,
and that there was a duty to take reasonable care to see that

the renresentation was correct. In short that there was a
special relationshin.

In Arenscn v. Arenson (1377) A.C. 405 (K.L.) a case

which turned on whether there was a guasi-judicial immunity
from liability for making negligent statements attaching to

or protectine the auditors of a Comnany who were asked to value
the shares of a shareholder who was selling them to another,

it was clearly implicit that the auditors or valuers would or
could be 1liable in negligence in resnect of their valuation

of the shares. (It was held that they had no such immunity in
respect of this negligence - assuming it had been proved).

Accepting the observations of Lerd Diplock in Evatt's

case at page 809:

"As with any other important case in the
development of the common law Hedley Bryne
should nct be regarded as intended to lay
down the metes and bounds of the new field
of negligence of which the gate is now
opened. Those will fall to be ascertained
step by step as the facts of particular
cases which come before the court make it
necessary to determinc them ............

The categories of negligence are never closed
and their Lordshin’s owinion in the instant
appeal, like all judicial reasoning, nmust be
understood secundum subjectam materiam.”

I would hold that on the facts of this case, and possibly
in all situations involving the relationships between a

borrower, a long term lender, and a short term lender, there is
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a ''special relationship" which imposes on the long term lender
who knows that the short term lender is depending upon the long
term loan being ultimately made, a duty to exercise care in the
making of representations to the short term lender. There was
a relationship of proximity equivalent toc contract. See Lord

Gevlin in Pedley Byrne [ 1964] A.C. at ». 530.

It is not however enough to establish that the
situation gives rise to a duty of care: it is necessary to go
further and find that that duty of care has been broken. This
involves, as I understand it, that the representor has made a false
statement of fact; or possibly advanced an opinion which itself is
one that he could not honestly have entertained or which involves
directly the existence of facts which are false.

In 211 of the cases which have been discussed above the
representation of fact has been clear. There are none that have
involved a representation as to future intent, and in that respect
the case before us is not only unique, but involves a very sub-
stantial extension of the duty to use care in the making of re-
presentations. 1 think that in the absence of such authority the
Courts will have to.fall back on the principles established in the
cases dealing with deceit, or the knowing making of false state-
nients, and which were referred to earlier in the passage taken from
Fleming on Torts.

The statement or representation "we intend to lend
$30,000 to Andrade on a mortgage to be consolidated with a first
mortgage that we already have on his premises at Hagley Park Road”
was true when made, and honestly believed. Can any false statement
of fact be inferred from it? I regret that I cannot find it
possible to infer from it any representation of fact that is untruc.
it may perhaps be implied that we have examined his circumstances
and are of the view that we can safely lend him money. But how much

further can it be taken. The real complaint is 'You promised to lend
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money to Andrade; and you have changed your mind, because of
something which you had the means of discovering before"™. For

such a complaint to succeed, it seems to me that it must amount

to a contract, an enforceable agreement, nothing less will sustain
it. I have already pointed out that the promise to Andrade was

at best a ''subject to contract” one, and that it was conditional

on the satisfying of the requirements as to title and the completion
and registration of a new mortgage, and there was no direct contract
between the Bank and the Insurance Company.

There is one respect in which the Insurance Company has
been negligent vis-a-vis the Bank. They had been informed of the
situation in respect to the title on the 21st May, 1975, but thevy
did not advise the Bank of this until November 7, 1975. That I
think was a breach of their duty of care, but it has not been argued
that any damage flows from it, or that if the Bank had been advised
sooner they might have been able to take some action with respect
to Mr. Andrade's indebtedness to them that has become impossible
because of the delay.

For these reasons I am of the view that the Insurance
Company is not liable in negligence to the Bank and I would allow
the appeal ontthis ground élso.

I would add that as far as I can see Judah, Desnoes § Co.
are not liable in negligence either, apart from the question of
whether any "special relation" existed between them and the Bank,
it has not been suggested that they made any misrepresentation to
the Bank., Their letters merely record the instructions received

from their client.
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The only ultimate comment that I would make is that
the makeshift arrangement of trying to get "undertakings" from
attorneys-at-law to use as a basis for making "bridging’ or
interim advances to customers seems unsatisfactory, and that the
short term lenders should make firm contractual arrangements with
the long term lender and the borrower that can ‘be enforced in a
Court of law, and or should take steps whether by caveats or
otherwise to protect themselves against the possibility of the
long term lender changing his mind and not proceeding with the
making of the long term loan. To repeat the observations of
Figgins, J. referred to earlier '"The law knows no gradations in
the contractual relation., It knows nothing of virtual agreements
or honourable understandings."

This is not to say of course that in the business world
businessmen are not capable of guiding their future conduct

towards those who defeat their legitimate expectations.




